THE STATE OF OBESITY IN TEXAS

DECEMBER 2020





PREFACE FROM THE CHAIR

The year 2020 will long be remembered for the devastation resulting from COVID-19. Businesses and schools shut their doors, millions of workers were displaced, and the lives of more than 23,000 Texans were lost. I am hopeful that soon the promise of COVID-19 vaccines will be realized, society will normalize, and 2021 will be a much different year.

The health effects on Texans of more than a half of a year working and learning virtually, however, will be lasting. We must be cognizant of the impacts that restrictions such as lockdowns had on the overall health and mental wellbeing of Texans, and specifically on healthy weight management. This is particularly concerning because of the growing body of evidence that suggests obesity heightens the risk of a more severe response to COVID-19 infection.¹

I have learned that during prolonged emergency responses it is easy to lose focus on our other important public health work. The health challenges our state faced in 2019 are still present, and have only been made worse because of COVID-19. We still have significant health disparities and too many Texans are suffering from, and dying early from, the complications of chronic diseases. Many of these diseases are the result of obesity, and unfortunately many times the challenges of obesity start in childhood.

Aside from the devastating toll on life, the pandemic has caused severe state budget constraints, which will limit the time and resources to pass legislation critical to the health of Texans. Despite these limitations, we must not lose the opportunity the legislative session brings us to improve the policies and enhance the public health resources needed to allow all Texans to live a full and healthy life, free from persistent chronic disease.

This report paints a picture of the obesity crisis in Texas - in which more than a third of adults and nineteen percent of children have obesity - to serve as background to the Partnership for a Healthy Texas' Legislative Priorities for the 87th Session. The priorities represent the coalition's vision to ensure that the state's most vulnerable populations are protected and an individual's income does not determine their health. By ensuring that every child has the physical and health education they need to create habits that last a lifetime and that every adult has access to healthy, affordable food, we are striving towards a more healthy Texas - a goal made even more critical by the current crisis.

Ind Liker MD

David Lakey, MD, Chair of Partnership for Healthy Texas Former Texas Commissioner of Health (2007-2015) DECEMBER 21, 2020



The Partnership for a Healthy Texas began in 2006 and has grown to a coalition of more than 50 organizations. We serve to improve the public health as a valued partner in the fight against obesity and continue to have a concerted influence on Texas policy. We believe that by working together we can maximize our impact on the health of Texans and drive economic productivity by reducing the burden of chronic disease.

MISSION: To develop and promote state policies that prevent and reduce obesity in Texas.



Chair: David Lakey, MD Chief Medical Officer and Vice Chancellor for Health Affairs, The University of Texas System

Vice-Chair: Clayton Travis Director of Advocacy and Health Policy, Texas Pediatric Society

Legislative Chair: Joel Romo The Cooper Institute Communications Chair: Michelle Smith Texas State Coordinator, Action for Healthy Kids

Program Co-Chair: Tiffni Menendez MSD Center for Healthy Living

Program Co-Chair: Kathleen Manuel MSD Center for Healthy Living

The work of the Partnership for a Healthy Texas is generously sponsored by Methodist Healthcare Ministries of South Texas, Inc.





The Partnership for a Healthy Texas, **a coalition of over 50 organizations,** has identified eight health policies for consideration by the 87th Texas Legislature. These policies are aimed at positively impacting the obesity epidemic in Texas, particularly among school-age children.

Summary of Prioritles for 2021 Legislative Session:

Ensure all Texas children have access to a well-rounded education which includes recess, physical education, and instruction on health.

- 1. Require school districts to create and institute recess policies that reflect best practice, consider recommendations from the School Health Advisory Committee (SHAC) and allow children the opportunity to be active, practice life skills and reenter the classroom ready to learn.
- 2. Increase middle school physical education (PE) requirements to include moderate to vigorous activity for 6 semesters, high school PE requirements to 3 semesters, and make 1 semester of health education required for graduation.

Eliminate food insecurity exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic; increase Texans' access to healthy foods and decrease their risk of obesity.

- 3. Fully fund the Surplus Agricultural Products Grant which ensures food banks have the produce to keep Texans from going hungry during the pandemic.
- 4. Encourage Medicaid Managed Care Organizations (MCOs) to implement initiatives to address social determinants of health (SDoH) including healthy food access.
- 5. Increase access to SNAP benefits for senior citizens by streamlining the application process.

Maintain and strengthen Texas' current public health and educational infrastructure to address obesity.

- 6. Promote the efficacy of the Texas' Whole Child School Health Policy approach, School Health Advisory Committees (SHACs) and physical fitness assessments which play a critical part of youth fitness and the physical education curriculum.
- 7. Protect and enhance current requirements around PE and Health Education.
- 8. Protect vital public health funding at the Department of State Health Services to combat chronic diseases including obesity.



TABLE OF CONTENTS



What is Obesity?	6
Adult Obesity Nationally Racial and Economic Disparities	7 7 7
Texas	7
Childhood Obesity	8
Contributing Factors to Obesity	9
Genetic Causes of Obesity	10
Physical Activity	10
Diet	10
Social Determinants of Health and Obesity Food Access	11 11
Contributing Factors to Childhood Obesity	12
School Policies (Physical)	12
School Policies (Food)	13
Community	13
Health Impact of Adult Obesity	
Chronic Disease	14
Economic Impact of Adult Obesity	
Cost of Healthcare	15
Business losses	
Transportation	15
Loss of Military Personnel	15
Impact of Childhood Obesity	16
Health	16
Mental Health	
	16
Obesity and COVID-19	17
Promising Interventions	
Houston RX Program	
Double Up Food Bucks	19
Community Fridge Project	
The Good Food Purchasing Program	20
Practical Obesity Management	20
The LiiNK Project	20
Moving Forward	21
Conclusion	22
Acknowledgments	23
References	24



WHAT IS OBESITY?

According to The Obesity Society:

"Obesity is a multi-causal chronic disease recognized across the life-span resulting from long-term positive energy balance with development of excess adiposity that over time leads to structural abnormalities, physiological derangements, and functional impairments. The disease of obesity increases the risk of developing other chronic diseases and is associated with premature mortality. As with other chronic diseases, obesity is distinguished by multiple phenotypes, clinical presentations, and treatment responses."²

Obesity is classified as a disease by the scientific and medical communities. While perceptions of health and what constitute a disease differ by culture and community, a consensus is that obesity is a complex chronic disease. Despite this scientific and medical consensus, many misconceived notions that obesity is caused by a lack of willpower to make healthy choices, or a moral failing, still dominate discourse. To properly respond to Texas' growing obesity epidemic, we must understand the disease's complex multi-causal roots and implement strategies that address barriers at the levels of the individual, the organizations, the communities, and the state.

	NORMAL						OVERWEIGHT					OBESE									EXTREME OBESITY											
вмі	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	30	31	32	33	34	35	36	37	38	39	40	41	42	43	44	45	46	47	48	49	50
Height (inches)	t s) Body Weight (pounds)																															
58	91	96	100	105	110	115	119	124	129	134	138	143	148	153	158	162	167	172	177	181	186	191	196	201	205	210	215	220	224	229	234	239
59	94	99	104	109	114	119	124	128	133	138	143	148	153	158	163	168	173	178	183	188	193	198	203	208	212	217	222	227	232	237	242	247
60	97	102	107	112	118	123	128	133	138	143	148	153	158	163	168	174	179	184	189	194	199	204	209	215	220	225	230	235	240	245	250	255
61	100	106	111	116	122	127	132	137	143	148	153	158	164	169	174	180	185	190	195	201	206	211	217	222	227	232	238	243	248	254	259	264
62	104	109	115	120	126	131	136	142	147	153	158	164	169	175	180	186	191	196	202	207	213	218	224	229	235	240	246	251	256	262	267	273
63	107	113	118	124	130	135	141	146	152	158	163	169	175	180	186	191	197	203	208	214	220	225	231	237	242	248	254	259	265	270	278	282
64	110	116	122	128	134	140	145	151	157	163	169	174	180	186	192	197	204	209	215	221	227	232	238	244	250	256	262	267	273	279	285	291
65	114	120	126	132	138	144	150	156	162	168	174	180	186	192	198	204	210	216	222	228	234	240	246	252	258	264	270	276	282	288	294	300
66	118	124	130	136	142	148	155	161	167	173	179	186	192	198	204	210	216	223	229	235	241	247	253	260	266	272	278	284	291	297	303	309
67	121	127	134	140	146	153	159	166	172	178	185	191	198	204	211	217	223	230	236	242	249	255	261	268	274	280	287	293	299	306	312	319
68	125	131	138	144	151	158	164	171	177	184	190	197	203	210	216	223	230	236	243	249	256	262	269	276	282	289	295	302	308	315	322	328
69	128	135	142	149	155	162	169	176	182	189	196	203	209	216	223	230	236	243	250	257	263	270	277	284	291	297	304	311	318	324	331	338
70	132	139	146	153	160	167	174	181	188	195	202	209	216	222	229	236	243	250	257	264	271	278	285	292	299	306	313	320	327	334	341	348
71	136	143	150	157	165	172	179	186	193	200	208	215	222	229	236	243	250	257	265	272	279	286	293	301	308	315	322	329	338	343	351	358
72	140	147	154	162	169	177	184	191	199	206	213	221	228	235	242	250	258	265	272	279	287	294	302	309	316	324	331	338	346	353	361	368
73	144	151	159	166	174	182	189	197	204	212	219	227	235	242	250	257	265	272	280	288	295	302	310	318	325		340	348		363	371	378
74	148	155	163	171	179	186	194	202	210	218	225	233	241	249	256	264	272	280	287	295	303	311	319	326	334	342	350	358	365	373	381	389
75	152	160	168	176	184	192	200	208	216	224	232	240	248	256	264	272	279	287	295	303	311	319	327	335	343	351	359	367	375	383	391	399
76	156	164	172	180	189	197	205	213	221	230	238	246	254	263	271	279	287	295	304	312	320	328	336	344	353	361	369	377	385	394	402	410

Source: https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health/educational/lose_wt/BMI/bmi_tbl.htm

ADULT OBESITY

Nationally

The number of adults with obesity in the United States has now surpassed 40 percent, according to the most recent National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) from 2017-2018.³⁴ This is a 26 percent jump from 2007–2008.⁵⁶ That number has steadily accelerated since the 1970's.⁷ In 1985, no state had an adult obesity rate higher than 15 percent; in 2000, no state was over 25 percent; and in 2006, only Mississippi and West Virginia were above 30 percent.

Racial and economic disparities

People of color are disproportionately impacted by obesity. According to 2017–2018 NHANES data, Black Americans had the highest rate of obesity (49.6 percent), followed by Hispanic Americans (44.8 percent), and compared to 42.2 percent of their white counterparts.⁸

Income is another contributing disparity within obesity. Those with incomes just above the poverty line had the highest rates of obesity at 42.6 percent, compared to 29.7 percent for those at the highest levels of income.⁹ Additionally, a 2019 study found that racial inequality in income, unemployment, and homeownership were associated with obesity.¹⁰

In 2019, 14.7 percent, or 4.1 million of all Texans lived in poverty, including 1.5 million children.^{11 12} **Black and Hispanic Texans are more than twice as likely to live below the poverty line as White and Asian Texans.**¹³

"Racial inequalities in health endure primarily because racism is a fundamental cause of racial differences in SES [socioeconomic status] and because SES is a fundamental cause of health inequalities." ¹⁴

Texas Adult Obesity

From 1995 to 2010, the prevalence of obesity in Texas adults doubled from 15.9 percent to 31.7 percent.¹⁵ With a current obesity rate of 34 percent, Texas has the 19th highest adult obesity rate in the US.^{16 17} In 2018, obesity prevalence among adults in Texas was highest among those with less than a high school degree and those who make less than \$15,000.¹⁸

Obesity* Trends Among U.S. Adults



*BMI ≥30, or ~30 lbs. overweight for 5' 4" person. Data: Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (1985, 2008, 2016), CDC.

Source: D. Blumenthal and S. Seerval, "Rising Obesity in the United States is a Public Health Crisis," To the Point, the Commonwealth Fund, Apr. 23, 2018.

Source: https://www.commonwealthfund.org/blog/2018/rising-obesity-united-states-public-health-crisis

OBESITY BY RACE (2017-18)

49.6%
OBESE44.8%
OBESE42.2%
OBESEBLACK
AMERICANSHISPANIC
AMERICANSWHITE
AMERICANS

Source: Molly Warren, Stacey Beck, and Daphne Delgado . Rep. *The State of Obesity Report:* Better Policies for A Healthier America 2020. Trust for America's Health

Prevalence of Obesity Among Adults, by Public Health Region (PHR), Texas, 2018



Data Classification: Quantiles.

Data Source: 2018 Texas Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS), Center for Health Statistics, Texas Department of State Health Services. Obesity is defined as a body mass index (BMI) of 30 kg/m² or higher, calculated from self-reported height and weight.

Created by Chronic Disease Epidemiology Branch, 11/07/2019

Services Health Services

TEXAS

Source: Texas Health and Human Services

Texas Department of State



CHILDHOOD OBESITY

In the mid-1970s, just 5.5 percent of young people in the US had obesity.¹⁹ Since then, the prevalence of childhood obesity has more than tripled, skyrocketing to 19.3 percent, or one in five children in 2017-2018 - constituting childhood obesity as a public health crisis.^{20 21}

In Texas, 15.5 percent of youth ages 10 to 17 have obesity, giving Texas a ranking of 19 out of 51 for this age group among all states and the District of Columbia.²² Hispanic and Black children have nearly twice the rate of obesity compared to non-Hispanic white children.²³ 31 percent of Black 8th graders in Texas have obesity and 32 percent of Hispanic 8th graders have obesity in Texas.²⁴

Nationally, childhood obesity rates were significantly higher for Hispanic (20.7 percent) and Black (22.9 percent) than white children.

NATIONAL TRENDS IN CHILDHOOD OBESITY 2004-05, 2009-11, 2015-16



PERCENT OF TEXAS CHILDREN WHO HAVE OBESITY BY GRADE AND ETHNICITY



Source: Healthy Children, Healthy State: Child Obesity Crisis in Texas." 2020. Michael & Susan Dell Center for Healthy Living, https://sph.uth.edu/research/centers/dell/texaschild-health-status-report/child%20obesity%20crisis%209.2020.pdf

CONTRIBUTING FACTORS TO OBESITY

Obesity is a complex disease that is caused by the inability of the body to regulate caloric intake and expenditure such that excess fat accumulates leading to negative health consequences. This dysregulation can be caused in isolation or collectively by internal factors such as genetic, physiologic, and neurologic causes that lead to a propensity to store excess fat within the body. The extent of dysregulation of these internal factors may vary within individuals along a spectrum ranging from protection against obesity (no dysregulation) to mild or severe obesity. In fact, it is appropriate to think of "obesities" – multiple causes and contributing factors that lead to excess storage of fat.

External factors such as the lifestyle patterns of an individual and the environment in which they live, can influence fat storage that is dysregulated due to internal factors. While the internal factors may not be modifiable without the help of pharmacological or surgical intervention, the lifestyle or environmental factors that influence fat storage can be potentially modifiable. As a result, access to and support for healthy lifestyle behaviors such as nutritious foods, active lifestyles, stress mitigation, and sufficient sleep are all important to address obesity and promote overall health. However, because of this complex interaction of internal and external factors, there are individuals who have healthy diets and active lifestyles who will still struggle with obesity. Likewise, there are individuals with unhealthy diets and sedentary lifestyles who will maintain a healthier weight. Therefore, when considering strategies to address the increasing rates of obesity, we need approaches that address both the internal and the external factors while eliminating blame of the individuals. By incorrectly blaming individuals and thinking of obesity as a lifestyle choice, we drive stigma (which leads to significant negative health consequences) and miss the opportunity to have a meaningful impact on health. No one chooses to have obesity.



Genetic Causes of Obesity

Advances in genetic research over recent decades have made it clear that there are genetic causes of obesity. These genetic causes can impact both food intake and energy expenditure at many different regulatory points.

In some cases, a mutation in a single gene is sufficient to cause extreme obesity. This monogenic obesity can be treated by providing the gene product. For example, a mutation in the leptin gene, a hormone that regulates appetite and energy expenditure, can cause a complete lack of leptin. For these individuals, treatment with lifestyle interventions like diet and exercise will not have an effect, but leptin replacement treatment quickly reverses the obesity. These types of obesity, called single gene polymorphisms, are rare but advances are ongoing.

The genetic causes that are more common and complex to identify and treat involve combinations of gene mutations or environmental factors that influence how genes are expressed (referred to as epigenetic factors). These complex causes can lead to mild to severe obesity. Ongoing research in this area works to identify ways in which expression of these genes can be modified through pharmacotherapy. Different types of obesity require different treatment strategies or combinations of strategies. Advances are being made not only in the development of pharmacotherapy for these types of obesity, but in tailored treatment strategies so that clinicians can better target drug therapy to individual needs of a patient.

While a lot of work remains to be done in this area, treatment options available today are safe and provide between 5% and 18% weight loss, on average (much higher in some individuals, likely due to the variations described above). As little as 5% weight loss leads to significant decreases in medical costs and improvements in health outcomes, quality of life, and productivity. Clearly, these treatment options need to be available and affordable for people who need them in order to decrease the overall impact obesity has on our society.

Physical Activity

Physical activity is an essential component to overall health and an important contributing factor for maintaining a healthier weight. While the Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans recommend adults participate in at least 150 minutes of moderate intensity activity or 75 minutes of vigorous intensity activity (or a combination of both) per week, fewer than half of American adults achieve these recommendations.²⁵

A 2012 CDC study in Texas found that only 27.2 percent of adults were physically active for a total of at least 60 minutes per day on each of the 7 days prior to the survey.²⁶ Stay-at-home orders during the COVID-19 pandemic may only accelerate this issue. Many Texan adults have reported difficulty maintaining a healthy diet and exercising during the pandemic.^{27 28}

Diet

A healthy diet is also an essential component to overall health and an important factor for achieving and maintaining a healthier weight. The Dietary Guidelines for Americans recommend a diet rich in whole grains, fruits and vegetables, and a variety of proteins. The majority of Americans do not follow this dietary advice.

The majority of the United States follows a diet that is:²⁹

- · Low in vegetables, fruits, dairy, and oils
- Exceeds dietary recommendations for added sugars, saturated fats, and sodium
- Exceeds recommendations for calories

A 2012 CDC study in Texas found that only 27.2 percent of adults reported having consumed vegetables at the recommended level of 3 or more times per day.³⁰

SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH AND OBESITY

According to Healthy People 2020, social determinants of health are:

"conditions in the environments in which people are born, live, learn, work, play, worship, and age that affect a wide range of health, functioning, and quality-of-life outcomes and risks. Resources that enhance quality of life can have a significant influence on population health outcomes." ³¹

Social determinants of health acknowledge that reduction in the prevalence of obesity in Texas requires consideration of and action on other policy and environmental changes. This includes addressing structural racism, inequities, and underinvestment in low-income and communities of color.³² There is a growing momentum around addressing social determinants of health in Texas, particularly the needs of the 4.4 million Texans who are enrolled in Medicaid and the Children's Health Insurance Program, to improve overall health care outcomes and reduce costs.³³

Food Access

Food insecurity is a critical social determinant of health and is linked with lower quality diets and higher levels of obesity in many populations.³⁴ Researchers have hypothesized that food insecurity leads to obesity not only through limited access to a healthy diet but also from an increase in stress hormones which can cause a physiological response in which the body stores more fat.³⁵

In 2019, 35 million people or 10.5 percent in the US were food insecure, defined as access at all times to enough food for an active, healthy life.³⁶ Since the onset of the pandemic, food insecurity has more than doubled, affecting as many as 23 percent of households.³⁷ About 28 percent of Texans were food insecure in 2020 and without financial relief from another federal stimulus package, that number is expected to continue to rise.³⁸ The annual estimated healthcare costs associated with lack of access to food in Texas will be over \$11.1 billion if the current levels continue.³⁹

Food insecurity is associated with serious health conditions, such as: $^{\!\!\!\!\!^{40}}$

- Obesity
- Diabetes
- Hypertension
- Anemia
- Developmental delays among children
- Mental health issues

Social determinants of health which effect obesity include:

- Economic Stability
 - » Employment
 - » Food Insecurity
 - » Housing Instability
 - » Poverty
- Education
 - » Early Childhood Education and Development
 - » Enrollment in Higher Education
 - » High School Graduation
 - » Language and Literacy

• Social and Community Context

- » Civic Participation
- » Discrimination
- » Incarceration
- » Social Cohesion
- Health and Health Care
 - » Access to Health Care
 - » Access to Primary Care
 - » Health Literacy

Neighborhood and Built Environment

- Access to Foods that Support Healthy Eating Patterns
- » Crime and Violence
- » Environmental Conditions
- » Quality of Housing

Source: Cole, Brian L., and Jonathan E. Fielding. 2007. "Health Impact Assessment: A Tool to Help Policy Makers Understand Health Beyond Health Care." Annual Review of Public Health 28 (1): 393–412. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.publhealth.28.083006.131942.

CONTRIBUTING FACTORS SPECIFIC TO CHILDHOOD OBESITY

CONTRIBUTING FACTORS SPECIFIC TO CHILDHOOD OBESITY

School Policies (Physical Activity)

Some environmental factors that contribute to obesity specifically affect our children. Children spend the majority of their day at school. Unfortunately, the classroom does not always foster a healthy environment for children. Since 2001 and the introduction of the 'No Child Left Behind' federal legislation, schools have placed increasing emphasis on standardized test scores, often at the expense of physical activity during the school day. Students today have limited access to recess and physical activity and spend the majority of the school day in a sedentary learning environment. When schools do offer recess, it is usually offered as a structured break for less than 20 minutes daily.⁴¹

Outdoor, unstructured play provides a different focus on the whole child compared to indoor or structured recesses.^{42 43} According to a recent study, The Status of School Recess in Texas School Districts, highperforming school districts were twice as likely to have a recess policy safeguarding the minimum amount of time students have for recess.⁴⁴

Recess allows children the opportunity to practice life skills such as: $^{\rm 45}$

- Cooperation
- Taking turns
- Following rules
- Sharing
- Communication
- Negotiation
- Problem solving
- Conflict resolution



Recess also:

- Provides the creative social and emotional benefits of play
- Decreases anxiety
- Develops social skills
- Promotes creativity

According to a Georgia State University study, the percentage of the US school districts with any written recess policy fell from 57 percent to 40 percent from 2006 to 2011.⁴⁶ While the National Association for Sport and Physical Education (NASPE) recommends a minimum of 20 minutes of recess each day for all children, there are few regional policies that guide what structured and unstructured physical activity should look like.⁴⁷ Currently, there is no state-level policy concerning school recess in Texas. While Texas is not one of the five states that has a recess policy, it does have an explicit Physical Activity Policy, which allows for but does not require unstructured recess time. Instead, the state only requires that the allotted time for recess adheres to guidelines set by the district's School Health Advisory Council (SHAC).

Studies show that Texas schools serving predominantly Black, Hispanic, or low-income children were less likely to have recess.⁴⁸

School Policies (Food)

Because children consume up to 50 percent of their daily calories at school, the quality of school meals has a significant impact on childhood health. The National School Lunch Program fed more than 30 million schoolchildren in the U.S. in 2016 and the School Breakfast Program fed more than 15 million.^{49 50}

Unfortunately, kids are not getting the quality nutrition they need. Studies show that the majority of American children are not consuming the daily recommended servings of fruits or vegetables.⁵¹ In a state like Texas, farm-to-school programs could alleviate some of this problem.

While federal attempts to improve nutritional standards for school lunches, such as the Healthy, Hunger-Free Kids Act of 2010 which were shown to decrease obesity for children in poverty, these standards have recently been weakened, allowing school meal programs to serve less fruit, fewer whole grains, fewer varieties of vegetables, and more starchy vegetables.⁵² Other food and lunch policies that can contribute to an unhealthy lifestyle include:

- "Open Campus" policies in which students can leave school for lunch, which has been shown to not only lead to unhealthy meals choices but increase automobile accidents ^{54 55}
- Availability of unhealthy 'competition foods,' foods outside of breakfast and lunch programs ⁵⁶

Community

At home, community infrastructure such as the availability of healthy, affordable, culturally appropriate food, and safe spaces for physical activity can affect children's health. In Texas, economic and ethnic disparities exist throughout our communities. Hispanic neighborhoods in Texas are more likely to have more fast-food restaurants and fewer supermarkets and farmers' markets, and less likely to have access to safe areas for walking than their non-white counterparts.^{57 58} Children who do not have access to safe, well-lit walking routes and have fewer opportunities to be physically active.⁵⁹



HEALTH IMPACT OF ADULT OBESITY

Chronic Disease

Obesity increases the risk of a range of diseases for adults and an overall risk of higher mortality.⁶⁰

According to the CDC, people who have obesity, compared to those with a healthy weight, are at increased risk for many diseases and conditions, including:^{61 62}

- Mortality
- High blood pressure (hypertension)
- High LDL cholesterol, low HDL cholesterol, or high triglycerides (Dyslipidemia)
- Type 2 diabetes
- Coronary heart disease
- Stroke
- Gallbladder disease
- Osteoarthritis (a breakdown of cartilage and bone within a joint)
- Sleep apnea and breathing problems
- Cancer
- Low quality of life
- Mental illness such as clinical depression, anxiety, and other mental disorders
- Body pain
- Limited physical activity

According to a 2018 study, obesity accounts for 18 percent of deaths among Americans ages 40 to 85.⁶³ This means obesity is comparable to cigarette smoking as a public health hazard; smoking kills one of five American adults and is the leading preventable cause of death in the United States.⁶⁴



ECONOMIC IMPACT OF OBESITY

Cost of Health Care

In 1988, US health care costs due to obesity were estimated at \$74.2 billion or 5.3 percent of all medical spending nationwide. By 2006, these costs accounted for 9.1 percent of annual health costs, or \$147 billion (in 2008 dollars).⁶⁵ **A 2016 study found that annual medical spending in the United States that is attributable to obesity now exceeds \$149 billion.**⁶⁶

High obesity rates increase costs for both Medicare, which provides healthcare coverage for Americans ages 65 and older, and Medicaid, which provides healthcare coverage for low-income and disabled Americans. These two programs bear approximately half the medical costs of obesity in the US.⁶⁷ One study projected that 8.5 percent of Medicare spending and 11.8 percent of Medicaid spending is attributable to obesity.⁶⁸

Only 31¢ per person is allocated for CDC obesity prevention efforts, though obesity accounts for nearly 21 percent of all healthcare spending.^{69 70}

Decrease in Productivity

The report details the costs of 'absenteeism' and 'presenteeism' (the lost productivity of employees who are at work but not fully engaged due to health issues or other distractions) at \$42.3 billion, or \$1,627 per worker with obesity. About two-thirds of that cost was associated with reduced productivity at work, with the remainder due to absenteeism, or missed time at work.⁷¹ As obesity has increased in Texas since 2009, those numbers could be much higher today.

Transportation

In the US, the airline industry consumes 350 million more gallons of fuel at an extra cost of \$275 million annually due to an increase in the average weight of passengers. One study found that passenger weight gain accounted for an additional one billion gallons of fuel consumed per year between 1960 and 2002.⁷²

ONLY 31¢ PER PERSON IS ALLOCATED FOR CDC OBESITY PREVENTION EFFORTS, THOUGH OBESITY ACCOUNTS FOR NEARLY 21% OF ALL HEALTHCARE SPENDING.

Business Losses

According to 'Gaining Costs, Losing Time: The Obesity Crisis in Texas,' obesity could cost Texas businesses \$32.5 billion annually by 2030, if current trends in obesity and health care costs continue.⁷³ The report estimates that nonmedical costs could be as high **as billions** from lost time at school and work, lower productivity, young mortality, and increased transportation costs.⁷⁴ Additionally, the report estimates that indirect costs associated with obesity account for 57.5 percent of total obesity-related business health care costs, or \$5.4 billion in 2009. Combined with direct health costs, total business costs were \$9.5 billion in 2009.⁷⁵

Areas of Costs	Est. Costs	Percent						
Healthcare	\$4,022,324,929	42.5%						
Absenteeism	\$1,643,955,363	17.4%						
Presenteeism	\$3,469,229,333	36.7%						
Disability	\$321,813,719	3.4%						
Total Costs	\$9,457,323,345	100.0%						

Source: Office of Susan Combs, Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts

Loss of Military Personnel

Between 1995 and 2008, at least 140,000 recruits arriving at Military Entrance Processing Centers weighed too much to pass their entrance physicals.^{76 77} The Army estimates that 27 percent of the nation's young adults (17 to 24 years old) exceed weight requirements to qualify for military service. Every year, about 1,200 enlistees are involuntarily discharged from duty because they cannot stay within weight limits; each represents about \$50,000 in recruitment and training costs, an annual cost of \$60 million.⁷⁸ Mission:Readiness, a group of retired admirals and generals, work to end this loss by advocating for early childhood interventions around increased access to healthy foods and physical activity in Texas schools.

IMPACT OF CHILDHOOD OBESITY

Chronic Disease

Although many of the physical health conditions associated with childhood obesity will subside if a child reaches a healthy weight, some continue to have detrimental effects into adulthood. Additionally, children who are overweight or have obesity as preschoolers are five times as likely as healthy-weight children to be overweight or have obesity as adults. Children with obesity are more likely to become adults with obesity and suffer from consequential physical and mental health problems.⁷⁹

Some of the most common health problems associated with childhood obesity include: $^{\mbox{\tiny 80}}$

- Diabetes
- Sleep apnea
- Cardiovascular disease

Children with obesity are at greater risk for certain diseases including:

- Type 2 diabetes
- High blood pressure

Additionally, childhood obesity results in higher health care costs. A child with obesity has \$12,900 more in medical costs than a child with healthy weight.⁸¹

Mental Health

Obesity has been described as being "one of the most stigmatizing and least socially acceptable conditions in childhood."⁸² The negative stereotype, stigmatization, and bullying that children with obesity are subjected to can lead to low self esteem, low self confidence, and a negative body image. Bullying can lead to a negative feedback loop of unhealthy habits, in which children use food as a coping method and source of comfort, and avoid physical activity to avoid situations in which they might be harassed.⁸³

Academic

A research study concluded that children who were affected by overweight and obesity were **four times more likely to report having problems at school than their healthy weight peers,** and more likely to miss school more frequently.⁸⁴



OBESITY AND COVID-19

The impacts of obesity are even more deadly during the current pandemic for both adults and children with obesity.

In a CDC study of deaths from COVID-19 between February and May 2020, the CDC found that mortality was highest for those 65 years or older and those with underlying medical conditions, such as obesity.⁸⁵ However, obesity is a stronger predictor of severe COVID-19-related illness than other medical conditions such as cardiovascular or pulmonary disease.^{86 87}

As of September 26, 2020, the CDC reported that among 7,865 adults hospitalized with COVID-19, 90.9 percent had an underlying health condition, particularly those associated with obesity.⁸⁸ Hospitalized COVID-19 patients with severe obesity are 7 times more likely to require use of ventilators compared to patients with a healthy weight.

Hospitalized COVID-19 patients with severe obesity are 7x more likely to require use of ventilators compared to healthy weight patients.^{89 90}

The US has the highest prevalence of adult obesity and the greatest number of deaths from COVID-19 in the world.^{91 92} Studies have shown individuals with obesity are more likely to be hospitalized and need the use of a respirator.⁹³

Black and Hispanic populations are disproportionately affected by chronic diseases (including obesity), increasing their risk for worse outcomes from COVID-19.⁹⁴ Early data show that non-white people are more likely to be hospitalized from the virus, and the CDC reports that African Americans are two times as likely to die from the virus than their white counterparts.^{95 96} In Texas, 53 percent of deaths have been among Hispanic adults.^{97 98}

These effects are not limited to adults. As of September 26, 2020, the CDC reported that among 243 children hospitalized with COVID-19 and known condition status, 52.7 percent had an underlying health condition.⁹⁹ Obesity is a risk factor for hospitalization and mechanical ventilation from COVID-19 among children. One study demonstrated that obesity was the strongest risk factor for mechanical ventilation among children ages two years or older with COVID-19.¹⁰⁰ Severe obesity is an even higher risk for COVID-19 complications among children.¹⁰¹

Like adults, during stay-at-home orders, youth have reported more physical inactivity, sedentary behavior, and consumption of unhealthy foods and sugar-sweetened beverages – all of which increase risk for weight gain.¹⁰²



Source: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, COVIDView, September 26, 2020.



PROMISING INTERVENTIONS

Across Texas, work is being done in local communities to address the obesity epidemic outside of policy changes. There have been successful programs to attempt to curb food insecurity by increasing the availability and accessibility of healthy foods, as well interventions that target increasing physical activity and instill healthy habits from a young age.¹⁰³ In addition, training programs and development of new tools are helping primary care providers to better help their patients with obesity. If scaled and modified appropriately, these programs could be models for legislative change.

Houston Rx Program

The Nutrition and Obesity Policy Research and Evaluation Network (NOPREN) has identified 'food prescriptions' as a program to reduce hunger by connecting patients at risk for food insecurity with community organizations to provide them with produce, and assist them with enrolling in nutrition assistance programs.¹⁰⁴ In Southeast Texas, the Houston Food Bank has partnered with healthcare systems, clinics, and organizations, to provide food prescription (Food Rx) to patients when referred by a designated Healthcare Partner or when they commit to a Community Health Program that improves their health and well being. In the Food Rx program, clients are prescribed to redeem their prescription for 30 pounds of produce every 2 weeks for up to 6 months for a total of 12 redemptions.¹⁰⁵ This program increases access to nutritious food and decreases the financial stress associated with household grocery costs, which is shown to improve health outcomes and decrease food insecurity.¹⁰⁶

According to a 2019 study:107

- The Houston Rx Program decreased food insecurity by 94%.
- 99% of participants reported consuming all or the majority of food provided.
- Both participants and providers felt the program was "well-received and much needed."

Similarly, A Prescription for Healthy Living (APHL), is another Food Rx program in Harris County that couples cooking and nutrition classes with food distribution for patients with diabetes.¹⁰⁸ The program uses the USDA MyPlate to ensure patients have the skills they need to cook healthy and delicious food from the Harris Health Food Farmacy, increasing vegetable and whole grain consumption along the way.¹⁰⁹

Double Up Food Bucks

In April 2020, Texas received 417,468 applications for SNAP compared to 114,937 applications in April 2019, representing a **263 percent increase.**¹¹⁰

Programs such as Double Up Food Bucks, operated by Fair Food Network, allow SNAP recipients to double their buying power of fruits and vegetables. By paying for produce with their SNAP benefits, they are able to receive \$20-30 produce for free.¹¹¹ Double Up Food Bucks operates in 28 states at nearly 1,000 program sites.¹¹²

In Texas, the Double Up Food Bucks program is led by local organizations and operates in:^{113 114}

- Sustainable Food Center, Austin
- Urban Harvest, Houston
- Texas Health Resources and Blue Zones Project, Fort Worth
- Texas Hunger Initiative, Lubbock
- South Plains
- Waco

The total value of incentive redemptions for Double Up Food Bucks in Texas since 2017 is \$186,733.¹¹⁵

Double Up Food Bucks not only increases food access for the 222,000 families that it serves nationwide, but it benefits local farmers and local grocery stores. In 2019, nearly 5,000 farmers participated in Double Up programs nationwide, bringing in \$4.6 million in combined SNAP and Double Up sales for farmers nationally, and expanding reach and increasing demand for farmers.¹¹⁶ In California, grocers reported between 5 percent and 12 percent increases in produce sales after launching Double Up and grocers in other states have noted that participation in the program increased their focus on local produce.¹¹⁷

Healthy Food Financing Initiative

El Paso County is the first county in the country to establish a Healthy Food Finance Initiative (HFFI). HFFI is a public-private partnership that works to increase access to healthy and affordable food by supporting economic development projects that increase healthy food retail and strengthen the food system infrastructure. The first three projects of the El Paso County HFFI program were approved for funding in February 2020 and included expansion of a regional food hub, establishment of a rural farm stand, and growth of a healthy food-prep enterprise.¹¹⁸



Community Fridge Project

Community-maintained fridges full of free food are a new phenomena that popped up to tackle the increase in food insecurity and unemployment during the COVID-19 pandemic across the United States in cities including New York, Philadelphia and in Texas.¹¹⁹

The fridge is available 24/7 for people who need food and items, as well as people looking to drop off donated goods. The fridges boost vegetables, fruits, breads, frozen foods, prepared meals, restaurant foods, canned goods, baking and cooking supplies, hand sanitizer, and more.

The fridges also offer a solution to food waste, as it provides the opportunity for restaurants to reduce food waste by donating their daily surplus. These fridges serve as a lifeline to communities, particularly for those without access to reliable transportation to travel to other food banks. Community or 'free fridges' are located across Texas in Austin, Houston, Dallas, and Alief.^{120 121 122 123}



GET FIT Program

Methodist Healthcare Ministries of South Texas, Inc. offers the Get FIT program across South Texas, a free preventative program that educates children about nutrition and physical fitness to prevent Type II diabetes, obesity and sedentary lifestyles. The program is offered throughout the academic year at school districts across the state and in the summer as a onemonth youth summer camp, Camp Fit.

The Good Food Purchasing Program

The Good Food Purchasing Program (GFPP) is a coordinated local-national initiative that harnesses the power of procurement to create a transparent and equitable food system, which prioritizes the health and well-being of people, animals, and the environment.

The GFPP) brings transparency and accountability to school food procurement and considers five core values by which they advise public food procurement:¹²⁴

- Nutritional Health
- Environmental Sustainability
- Local Economies
- Valued Workforce
- Animal Welfare

Through the GFPP, cities, school districts and major institutions have access to tools and technical assistance that allow them to assess purchasing practices, set goals and create an action plan to increase Good Food purchases over time, track progress, and celebrate success. The GFPP complements and enhances existing Good Food procurement efforts, like Farm to School, and supports institutions in providing healthy, high-quality meals. The Program provides a flexible framework to support cities in creating benchmarks for procurement around the five values.

In February 2019, Austin Independent School District became the first school district in the state to adopt the GFPP.¹²⁵ Since adopting the GFFP, the Nutrition & Food Services Department at Austin Independent School District, which serves over 77,000 meals each school day, has incorporated more local items on their menus, and procured organic, antibiotics-free and non-GMO food options in all cafeterias.¹²⁶

Practical Obesity Management

With fewer than 8000 obesity specialists in the US, there are insufficient specialists to meet the demand of obesity treatment for 145 million individuals in the U.S. affected by obesity. The Practical Obesity Management Course, developed in El Paso by the UTHealth Center for Community Health Impact (CCHI), was designed to address this need by training primary care providers, including physicians, nurse practitioners, physician assistants, nurses, and social workers, how to work together as an interdisciplinary team to treat and manage obesity in their community clinics. As a result, west Texas now has 50 providers trained in obesity management. In addition, in response to requests from course participants, UTHealth CCHI has converted the training to on-line modules in order to reach more providers, and has developed tools that help providers integrate the training into their daily practice in cost-effective and timeefficient ways.

The LiiNK (Let's Inspire Innovation N'Kids) Project

The LiiNK (Let's Inspire Innovation N'Kids) Project, a Whole Child School intervention, uses four 15-minute **outdoor**, **unstructured play breaks** in schools daily as well as a 15-minute daily character lesson that emphasizes empathy over bullying, respect, honesty, and trust elements that transfer to the playground and the classroom.

After over one year in the project, 14 percent of the LiiNK students shifted from the overweight or obese category to the healthy weight category, while only 2 percent of the control group shifted categories. After tracking BMI across three years, LiiNK students continued to reflect a 7 percent difference over the comparison students from the overweight/obese category to the healthy category.¹²⁷ Additionally, these results show that young children who are given 60 minutes of recess daily continue to increase physical activity patterns over those with only 30 minutes of recess daily.¹²⁸

Obesity Toolkits

The Texas Pediatric Society, the Texas Chapter of the American Academy of Pediatrics's Nutrition and Health Committee provides online resources and guidelines for pediatric practitioners to prevent, recognize and care for children and adolescents who have overweight or obesity issues. In 2005, the Committee developed the <u>Obesity Toolkit</u> to assist clinicians in providing care for children who were not at a healthy weight and was updated in 2008. The online toolkit provides patient handouts and videos for health practitioners.¹²⁹

The Michael & Susan Dell Center for Healthy Living also hosts the online <u>Child Obesity Toolkit</u> for parents, schools and community members to utilize, which includes evidence-based best practices, resources, data, tools, and guides, to combat the obesity crisis in Texas. The Toolkit is updated regularly and includes resources around COVID-19's impact on child obesity.¹³⁰



MOVING FORWARD

While the Partnership for a Healthy Texas has already identified our 2021 Legislative Priorities, there are areas outside the scope of what is politically possible during a unique and challenging session that we hope to explore in the future.

Healthcare

Despite the continued increase in the prevalence of obesity and the acknowledgment by the medical field that obesity is a disease, many continue to view obesity as a lifestyle choice or personal failure. Others acknowledge that obesity is a chronic and complex disease, but they believe that all that is needed is more robust prevention. These perceptions and attitudes, coupled with bias and stigma, have resulted in health insurance plans taking vastly different approaches in determining what and how obesity treatment services are covered for their members. It is time for a paradigm change, and for all public and private health plans to adopt a comprehensive benefit approach toward treating obesity. Individuals affected by obesity should have the same access to care as other recognized disease states: screening and treatment of obesity from a diverse range of healthcare providers who specialize in obesity care, coverage of FDA-approved anti-obesity medications, and access to surgical treatment options.

CONCLUSION

Obesity is a complex disease which is too often misunderstood, mislabeled and stigmatized. The current pandemic is only the most recent reminder of how deadly the obesity crisis is for both adults and children, and tragically, shut-down orders could also fuel an acceleration in rates of childhood and adult obesity. Yet, in the midst of devastation, this crisis presents an opportunity to strengthen public health measures which will help curb the obesity epidemic in Texas and address both the external and intrinsic factors contributing to the disease.

The Partnership for a Healthy Texas stands ready to work with state lawmakers to craft policies that will alleviate the burden of obesity on all Texans and pursue innovative legislative solutions in the future.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank everyone who contributed their time and expertise to the creation of this report. Emmie DiCicco, Partnership for a Healthy Texas Coordinator, authored the report under the direction and expert guidance of The Partnership for a Healthy Texas Steering Committee. Special thank you to Dr. Leah Whigham for her insights and passion for the subject matter. Finally, we want to gratefully acknowledge Methodist Healthcare Ministries of South Texas, Inc for their financial support of the Partnership for a Healthy Texas and this report. Their dedication to advocating for the health and wellness of Texas will have a lasting impact in the years to come.

ENDNOTES

- Banerjee, Mithu, Shruti Gupta, Praveen Sharma, Jyoti Shekhawat, and Kavya Gauba.
 2020. "Obesity and COVID-19: A Fatal Alliance." Indian Journal of Clinical Biochemistry 35 (4): 410–17. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12291-020-00909-2.
- 2 Jastreboff, Ania, and Catherine M Kotz. 2019. "Obesity as a Disease: The Obesity Society 2018 Position Statement" 27 (1). https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.22378.
- 3 Molly Warren, Stacey Beck, and Daphne Delgado . Rep. The State of Obesity Report: Better Policies for A Healthier America 2020. Trust for America's Health, p 1
- 4 Hales CM, Carroll MD, Fryar CD, and Ogden CL. Prevalence of Obesity and Severe Obesity Among Adults: United States, 2017–2018. NCHS Data Brief, no. 360. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics, February 2020. https://www.cdc. gov/nchs/products/ databriefs/db360.htm (accessed July 15, 2020).
- 5 Molly Warren, Stacey Beck, and Daphne Delgado . Rep. The State of Obesity Report: Better Policies for A Healthier America 2020. Trust for America's Health, p 1
- 6 Fryar CD, Carroll MD, and Ogden CL. Prevalence of Overweight, Obesity, and Extreme Obesity Among Adults: United States, Trends 1960–1962 Through 2009–2010. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics, September 2012. https://www. cdc.gov/nchs/ data/hestat/obesity_adult_09_10/obesity_ adult_09_10.htm (accessed July 15, 2020).
- 7 Molly Warren, Stacey Beck, and Daphne Delgado . Rep. The State of Obesity Report: Better Policies for A Healthier America 2020. Trust for America's Health, p 1
- 8 Molly Warren, Stacey Beck, and Daphne Delgado. Rep. The State of Obesity Report: Better Policies for A Healthier America 2020. Trust for America's Health, p 27
- 9 National Center for Health Statistics. "Health, United States, 2015, Table 58." National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2015. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/ hus/2015/058.pdf (accessed November 20, 2020).
- 10 Bell CN, Kerr J, and Young JL. "Associations Between Obesity, Obesogenic Environments, and Structural Racism Vary by County-Level Racial Composition." International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 16(5): 861, 2019. https://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6427384/pdf/ ijerph-16-00861.pdf (accessed November 20, 2020).
- 11 "US. Census Bureau QuickFacts: Texas." n.d. Accessed December 2, 2020. https:// www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/TX/RHI125219.
- 12 "US. Census Bureau QuickFacts: Texas." n.d. Accessed December 2, 2020. https:// www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/TX/RHI125219.
- 13 "2019 Poverty in Texas." 2019. Center for Public Policy Priorities. https://everytexan. org/images/2019_Poverty_in_Texas.pdf.
- 14 Phelan JC and Link BG. "Is Racism a Fundamental Cause of Inequalities in Health?" Annual Review of Sociology, 41:1, 311-330, May 1, 2015. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev-soc-073014-112305 (accessed November 20, 2020).
- 15 "Obesity Data." n.d. Accessed November 30, 2020. https://www.dshs.texas.gov/ Obesity/Data/.
- 16 The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation and Trust for America's Health. (2019). The State of Obesity in Texas. Retrieved from https://stateofchildhoodobesity.org/states/tx.
- 17 "Healthy Children, Healthy State: Child Obesity Crisis in Texas." 2020. Michael & Susan Dell Center for Healthy Living. https://sph.uth.edu/research/centers/dell/texas-childhealth-status-report/child%20obesity%20crisis%209.2020.pdf.
- 18 The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation and Trust for America's Health. (2019). The State of Obesity in Texas. Retrieved from https://stateofchildhoodobesity.org/states/tx.
- 19 Molly Warren, Stacey Beck, and Daphne Delgado. Rep. The State of Obesity Report: Better Policies for A Healthier America 2020. Trust for America's Health, p 32
- 20 Hales CM, Carroll MD, Fryar CD, Ogden CL. Prevalence of obesity among adults and youth: United States, 2015–2016. NCHS Data Brief. 2017;288:1–8.
- 21 Kumar, Seema, and Aaron S. Kelly. 2017. "Review of Childhood Obesity: From Epidemiology, Etiology, and Comorbidities to Clinical Assessment and Treatment." Mayo Clinic Proceedings 92 (2): 251–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. mayocp.2016.09.017.
- 22 "State Obesity Data." n.d. The State of Childhood Obesity (blog). Accessed November 18, 2020. https://stateofchildhoodobesity.org/states/.
- 23 The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation and Trust for America's Health. (2019). The State of Obesity in Texas. Retrieved from https://stateofchildhoodobesity.org/states/tx/.
- 24 "Healthy Children, Healthy State: Child Obesity Crisis in Texas." 2020. Michael & Susan Dell Center for Healthy Living. https://sph.uth.edu/research/centers/dell/texas-child-health-status-report/child%20obesity%20crisis%209.2020.pdf.
- 25 CDC. 2020. "Adult Obesity." Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. September 17, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/adult/causes.html.
- 26 "Texas State Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Obesity Profile." 2015. CDC. https://www. cdc.gov/obesity/stateprograms/fundedstates/pdf/Texas-state-profile.pdf.

- 27 Almandoz, J. P., Xie, L., Schellinger, J. N., Mathew, M. S., Gazda, C., Ofori, A., ... & Messiah, S. E. (2020). Impact of COVID-19 Stay-at-Home Orders on Weight-Related Behaviors Among Patients with Obesity. Clinical Obesity, e12386.
- 28 Sallis, J. F., Adlakha, D., Oyeyemi, A., & Salvo, D. (2020). An international physical activity and public health research agenda to inform COVID-19 policies and practices. Journal of Sport and Health Science
- 29 "Current Eating Patterns in the United States 2015-2020 Dietary Guidelines | Health.Gov." n.d. Accessed December 3, 2020. https://health.gov/our-work/foodnutrition/2015-2020-dietary-guidelines/guidelines/chapter-2/current-eating-patternsin-the-united-states/.
- 30 "Texas State Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Obesity Profile." 2015. CDC. https://www. cdc.gov/obesity/stateprograms/fundedstates/pdf/Texas-state-profile.pdf.
- 31 "Social Determinants of Health | Healthy People 2020." n.d. Accessed December 3, 2020. https://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics-objectives/topic/socialdeterminants-of-health.
- 32 Jackson JS, Knight KM, and Rafferty JA. "Race and Unhealthy Behaviors: Chronic Stress, the HPA Axis, and Physical and Mental Health Disparities Over the Life Course." American Journal of Public Health, 100(5): 933-939, May 2010. https:// pubmed.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/19846689/ accessed November 20, 2020).
- 33 "Texas and the ACA's Medicaid Expansion: Eligibility, Enrollment and Benefits." 2020. Healthinsurance.Org. September 8, 2020. https://www.healthinsurance.org/texasmedicaid/.
- 34 Garcia SP, Haddix A, Barnett K. Incremental Health Care Costs Associated With Food Insecurity and Chronic Conditions Among Older Adults. Prev Chronic Dis. 2018;15:E108. Published 2018 Aug 30. doi:10.5888/ pcd15.180058
- 35 Dhurandhar EJ. "The Food-Insecurity Obesity Paradox: A Resource Scarcity Hypothesis." Physiology & Behavior. 162: 88-92, 2016. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/27126969/ (accessed November 20, 2020).
- 36 "USDA ERS Key Statistics & Graphics." n.d. Accessed November 15, 2020. https:// www.ers.usda.gov/topics/food-nutrition-assistance/food-security-in-the-us/keystatistics-graphics.aspx.
- 37 Schanzenbach, Diane, and Abigail Pitts, . "How Much Has Food Insecurity Risen? Evidence from the Census Household Pulse Survey ." IPR Rapid Research Report , 2020.
- 38 Schanzenbach D, Tomeh N. State Levels of Food Insecurity During the COVID-19 Crisis. Institute for Policy Research July 14, 2020 2020.
- 39 Feeding America. The Health Care Costs of Food Insecurity https://www.feedingamerica.org/sites/default/files/2019-07/ Thepercent20Healthcarepercent20Costspercent20ofpercent20 Foodpercent20Insecuritypercent20Brief_Julypercent202019.pdf Published 2019. Accessed December 3, 2020
- 40 "Impact of COVID-19 on Food Insecurity." 2020. Texas Research to Policy Collaboration Project. https://sph.uth.edu/research/centers/dell/legislative-initiatives/ COVID-19percent20andpercent20FI_12.2.20.pdf.
- 41 Farbo, David, Laura C. Maler, and Deborah J. Rhea. 2020. "The Preliminary Effects of a Multi-Recess School Intervention: Using Accelerometers to Measure Physical Activity Patterns in Elementary Children." International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 17 (23): 8919. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17238919.
- 42 Gray, P. What exactly is play, and why is it such a powerful vehicle for learning? Top. Lang Dis. 2017, 37, 217–228.
- 43 Farbo, David, Laura C. Maler, and Deborah J. Rhea. 2020. "The Preliminary Effects of a Multi-Recess School Intervention: Using Accelerometers to Measure Physical Activity Patterns in Elementary Children." International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 17 (23): 8919. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17238919.
- 44 Sanborn, R., McConnel, K., Kimball, M., & Eyer, J. (2018). The Status of School Recess in Texas School Districts (Rep.). Retrieved October 22, 2020, from Children at Risk website : https://childrenatrisk.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/2018-CHILDREN-AT-RISK-Texas-Recess-Report.pdf
- 45 Farbo, David, Laura C. Maler, and Deborah J. Rhea. 2020. 'The Preliminary Effects of a Multi-Recess School Intervention: Using Accelerometers to Measure Physical Activity Patterns in Elementary Children.'' International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 17 (23): 8919. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17238919.
- 46 Jarrett, O. (2013). "A Research-based case for recess." US. Play Coalition, Georgia State University. Retrieved from https://www.playworks.org/wp-content/ uploads/2017/09/US-play-coalition_Research-based-case-for-recess.pdf
- 47 "Recess for Elementary School Students." 2006. Reston, VA: National Association for Sport and Physical Education. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED497155.pdf.
- 48 Sanborn, R., McConnel, K., Kimball, M., & Eyer, J. (2018). The Status of School Recess in Texas School Districts (Rep.). Retrieved October 22, 2020, from Children at Risk website : https://childrenatrisk.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/2018-CHILDREN-AT-RISK-Texas-Recess-Report.pdf
- 49 "USDA Food and Nutrition Service | USDA-FNS." Accessed September 26, 2020. https://fns-prod.azureedge.net/sites/default/files/resource-files/ NSLPFactSheet.pdf.

- 50 "School Meals and Snacks." n.d. The State of Childhood Obesity (blog). Accessed December 16, 2020. https://stateofchildhoodobesity.org/policy/school-meals/.
- 51 National Cancer Institute. Usual dietary intakes: food intakes, US population, 2007–10. Available at http://appliedresearch.cancer.gov/diet/usualintakes/ pop/2007-10
- 52 "RWJF Comments on Proposed Changes to USDA's School Meal Nutrition Standards." RWJF, July 22, 2020. https://www.rwjf.org/en/library/articles-andnews/2020/03/comments-from-richard-besser-on-proposed-changes-to-usdaschool-meal-nutrition-standards.html
- 53 Kenney, Erica L., Jessica L. Barrett, Sara N. Bleich, Zachary J. Ward, Angie L. Cradock, and Steven L. Gortmaker. 2020. "Impact Of The Healthy, Hunger-Free Kids Act On Obesity Trends." Health Affairs 39 (7): 1122–29. https://doi. org/10.1377/hlthaff.2020.00133.
- 54 "Open Campus Means Fast Food for Lunch." 2013. SFChronicle.Com. May 9, 2013. https://www.sfchronicle.com/education/article/Open-campus-means-fastfood-for-lunch-4503989.php.
- 55 Stone, Lorraine M., and Carol W. Runyan. 2005. "High School Off-Campus Lunch Policies and Adolescent Motor Vehicle Crash Risks." The Journal of Adolescent Health: Official Publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine 36 (1): 5–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2003.12.009.
- 56 Stone, Lorraine M., and Carol W. Runyan. 2005. "High School Off-Campus Lunch Policies and Adolescent Motor Vehicle Crash Risks." Journal of Adolescent Health 36 (1): 5–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2003.12.009.
- 57 "Research: Latino Neighborhoods Badly Need Healthier, Affordable Food Options | Salud America." n.d. Accessed December 2, 2020. https://salud-america.org/ research-latino-neighborhoods-badly-need-healthier-affordable-food-options/.
- 58 Zhu X, Lee C. Walkability and safety around elementary schools economic and ethnic disparities. Am J Prev Med. 2008;34(4):282–290
- 59 Sahoo, Krushnapriya, Bishnupriya Sahoo, Ashok Kumar Choudhury, Nighat Yasin Sofi, Raman Kumar, and Ajeet Singh Bhadoria. 2015. "Childhood Obesity: Causes and Consequences." Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care 4 (2): 187–92. https://doi.org/10.4103/2249-4863.154628.
- 60 Molly Warren, Stacey Beck, and Daphne Delgado . Rep. The State of Obesity Report: Better Policies for A Healthier America 2020. Trust for America's Health, , p 1
- 61 CDC. 2020. "Adult Obesity." Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. September 17, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/adult/causes.html.
- 62 Molly Warren, Stacey Beck, and Daphne Delgado . Rep. The State of Obesity Report: Better Policies for A Healthier America 2020. Trust for America's Health, , p 1
- 63 "Obesity Kills More Americans Than Previously Thought | Columbia Public Health." n.d. Accessed December 2, 2020. https://www.publichealth.columbia. edu/public-health-now/news/obesity-kills-more-americans-previously-thought.
- 64 CDC TobaccoFree. 2020. "Tobacco-Related Mortality." Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. October 6, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/data_ statistics/fact_sheets/health_effects/tobacco_related_mortality/index.htm.
- 65 Combs, Susan. 2011. "Gaining Costs, Losing Time: The Obesity Crisis in Texas." https://demographics.texas.gov/Resources/Publications/2011/2011-02_ GainingCostsLosingTime.pdf. P 17
- 66 Kim DD and Basu A. "Estimating the Medical Care Costs of Obesity in the United States: Systematic Review, Meta-Analysis, and Empirical Analysis." Value in Health, 19: 602- 613, 2016. https://www.valueinhealthjournal. com/article/S1098-3015(16)00055-3/pdf (accessed July 21, 2020). (accessed November 20, 2020).
- 67 Finkelstein EA, Trogdon JG, Cohen JW, and Dietz W. ``Annual Medical Spending Attributable to Obesity: Payer-And Service-Specific Estimates." Health Affairs, 28(1): w822?w831, 2009. https://www. healthaffairs.org/doi/full/10.1377/ hlthaff.28.5.w822?url_ver=Z39.88-2003&rfr_id=ori:rid:crossref.org&rfr_dat=cr_ pubpercent20 percent 200 pubmed (accessed November 20, 2020).
- 68 Finkelstein EA, Trogdon JG, Cohen JW, et al. "Annual Medical Spending Attributable to Obesity: Payer- and Service-Specific Estimates." At Affairs, 28(5): w822-w831, 2009. https:// www.healthaffairs.org/doi/full/10.1377/ hlthaff.28.5.w822 (accessed November 18, 2020).
- 69 Petersen R, Pan L, Blanck HM. Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Adult Obesity in the United States: CDC's Tracking to Inform State and Local Action. Prev Chronic Dis 2019; 16: 180579. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.5888/pcd16.180579external icon.
- 70 Cawley J and Meyerhoefer C. "The Medical Care Costs of Obesity: An Instrumental Variables Approach." Journal of Health Pubmed.ncbi.l, 31(1): 219-30, 230, 2012. https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22094013/ (accessed November 20, 2020).
- 71 Combs, Susan. 2011. "Gaining Costs, Losing Time: The Obesity Crisis in Texas." https://demographics.texas.gov/Resources/Publications/2011/2011-02_ GainingCostsLosingTime.pdf,p 19
- 72 Combs, Susan. 2011. "Gaining Costs, Losing Time: The Obesity Crisis in Texas." https://demographics.texas.gov/Resources/Publications/2011/2011-02_ GainingCostsLosingTime.pdf.p 2

- 73 Combs, Susan. 2011. "Gaining Costs, Losing Time: The Obesity Crisis in Texas." https://demographics.texas.gov/Resources/Publications/2011/2011-02_ GainingCostsLosingTime.pdf.p 17
- 74 Combs, Susan. 2011. "Gaining Costs, Legislation Time: The Obesity Crisis in Texas." https://demographics.texas.gov/Resources/Publications/2011/2011-02_ GainingCostsLosingTime.pdf. P 17
- 75 Combs, Susan. 2011. "Gaining Costs, Legislation Time: The Obesity Crisis in Texas." https://demographics.texas.gov/Resources/Publications/2011/2011-02_ GainingCostsLosingTime.pdf. P 21
- 76 Mission: Readiness, Too Fat to Fight: Retired Military Leaders Want Junk Food Out of America's Schools – A Report by Mission: Readiness, Military Leaders for Kids (Washington, D.C., April 8, 2010), pp. 1-2, http://missionreadiness.org/ MR_Too_Fat_to_ Fight-1.pdf. (Last visited December 2020.)
- 77 Combs, Susan. 2011. "Gaining Costs, Losing Time: The Obesity Crisis in Texas." https://demographics.texas.gov/Resources/Publications/2011/2011-02_ GainingCostsLosingTime.pdf.p 28
- 78 Mission: Readiness, Too Fat to Fight: Retired Military Leaders Want Junk Food Out of America's Schools – A Report by Mission: Readiness, Military Leaders for Kids (Washington, D.C., April 8, 2010), pp. 1-2, http://missionreadiness.org/ MR_Too_Fat_to_ Fight-1.pdf. (Last visited December 2020.)
- 79 CDC. 2018. "CDC VitalSigns Progress on Childhood Obesity: Many States Show Decli." Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. September 4, 2018. https://www. cdc.gov/vitalsigns/childhoodobesity/index.html.
- 80 Sahoo, Krushnapriya, Bishnupriya Sahoo, Ashok Kumar Choudhury, Nighat Yasin Sofi, Raman Kumar, and Ajeet Singh Bhadoria. 2015. "Childhood Obesity: Causes and Consequences." Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care 4 (2): 187–92. https:// doi.org/10.4103/2249-4863.154628.
- 81 Finkelstein E A, et al. Lifetime Direct Medical Costs of Childhood Obesity. Pediatrics 133, no. 5 (2014): 854-62
- 82 "Health-Related Quality of Life of Severely Obese Children and Adolescents - PubMed." n.d. Accessed December 2, 2020. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/12684360/.
- 83 Sahoo, Krushnapriya, Bishnupriya Sahoo, Ashok Kumar Choudhury, Nighat Yasin Sofi, Raman Kumar, and Ajeet Singh Bhadoria. 2015. "Childhood Obesity: Causes and Consequences." Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care 4 (2): 187–92. https:// doi.org/10.4103/2249-4863.154628.
- 84 Schwimmer JB, Burwinkle TM, Varni JW. Health-related quality of life of severely obese children and adolescents. JAMA. 2003;289:1813–9.
- 85 Wortham, Jonathan M. 2020. "Characteristics of Persons Who Died with COVID-19 United States, February 12–May 18, 2020." MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report 69. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6928e1.
- 86 Hoelscher, Deanna, and Alexandra van den Berg. 2020. "COVID-19: Impact of Adult Obesity on Health Outcomes." Texas Research to Policy Collaboration Project. https:// sph.uth.edu/research/centers/dell/legislative-initiatives/COVID-19%20Adult%20 Obesity_12_10_2020.pdf.
- Rychter, A. M., Zawada, A., Ratajczak, A. E., Dobrowolska, A., & Krela-Kaźmierczak, I. (2020). Should patients with obesity be more afraid of COVID-19? Obesity Reviews.
- 88 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2020, September 26). COVIDView: A Weekly Surveillance Summary of US. COVID-19 Activity. Atlanta, GA: US Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/ coronavirus/2019-ncov/covid-data/pdf/covidview-10-02- 2020.pdf.
- 89 Hoelscher, Deanna, and Alexandra van den Berg. 2020. "COVID-19: Impact of Adult Obesity on Health Outcomes." Texas Research to Policy Collaboration Project. https:// sph.uth.edu/research/centers/dell/legislative-initiatives/COVID-19%20Adult%20 Obesity_12_10_2020.pdf.
- 90 Simonnet, A., Chetboun, M., Poissy, J., Raverdy, V., Noulette, J., Duhamel, A., ... & LICORN and the Lille COVID-19 and Obesity study group. (2020). High prevalence of obesity in severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) requiring invasive mechanical ventilation. Obesity.
- 91 World Health Organization. (2020). Retrieved from https://www.who.int/emergencies/ diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/situation-reports/
- 92 World Health Organization. (2016). Retrieved from https://www.who.int/gho/ncd/ risk_factors/overweight_obesity/obesity_adults/en/
- 93 Banerjee, Mithu, Shruti Gupta, Praveen Sharma, Jyoti Shekhawat, and Kavya Gauba. 2020. "Obesity and COVID-19: A Fatal Alliance." Indian Journal of Clinical Biochemistry 35 (4): 410–17. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12291-020-00909-2.
- 94 El Chaar, M., King, K., & Galvez, A. (2020). Are African American and Hispanics Disproportionately Affected by COVID-19 Because of Higher Obesity Rates? Surgery for Obesity and Related Diseases
- 95 "COVID-19 Hospitalization and Death by Race/Ethnicity," August 18, 2020. https:// www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/covid-data/investigations-discovery/ hospitalization-death-by-race-ethnicity.html.
- 96 Dyer Owen. Covid-19: Black people and other minorities are hardest hit in US BMJ 2020; 369 :m1483

- 97 Hoelscher, Deanna, and Alexandra van den Berg. 2020. "COVID-19: Impact of Adult Obesity on Health Outcomes." Texas Research to Policy Collaboration Project. https://sph.uth.edu/research/centers/dell/legislative-initiatives/ COVID-19%20Adult%20Obesity_12_10_2020.pdf.
- 98 UTHealth School of Public Health. (2020). COVID-19 Dashboard. Retrieved from http://www.texaspandemic.org
- 99 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2020, August 8). COVIDView: A Weekly Surveillance Summary of US. COVID-19 Activity. Atlanta, GA: US Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved from https://www. cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/covid-data/pdf/covidview-08-14-2020.pdf.
- 100 Zachariah, P., Johnson, C. L., Halabi, K. C., Ahn, D., Sen, A. I., Fischer, A., Banker, S.L., Giordano, M., Manice, C.S., Diamond, R., & Sewell, T. B. (2020). Epidemiology, Clinical Features, and Disease Severity in Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) in a Children's Hospital in New York City, New York. JAMA Pediatrics, e202430-e202430.
- 101 Messiah, S. E., Xie, L., Atem, F., Mathew, S. M., Qureshi, F., Schneider, B. E., & Muñoz, N. C. (2020). Disparity Between United States Adolescent Class II and III Obesity Trends and Bariatric Surgery Utilization, 2015-2018. Annals of Surgery.
- 102 Silva, C. A., Queiroz, L. B., Fonseca, C. D. B., Silva, L. E. V. D., Lourenço, B., & Marques, H. H. S. (2020). Spotlight for healthy adolescents and adolescents with preexisting chronic diseases during the COVID-19 pandemic. Clinics, 75. doi:10.6061/clinics/2020/e1931
- 103 Texas Department of State Health Services. (2018). Department of State Health Services Obesity Prevention Program Priority Objectives 2016-2021. Retrieved from https://www.dshs.texas.gov/obesity/pdf/OPP_StratPlan_01032018.pdf
- 104 "Food Security." In: Nutrition and Obesity Policy Research and Evaluation Network. https://nopren.org/working_groups/foodsecurity/ (accessed July 16, 2020).
- 105 Aiyer, Jennifer N., Margaret Raber, Rosalind S. Bello, Anna Brewster, Elizabeth Caballero, Catherine Chennisi, Casey Durand, et al. 2019. "A Pilot Food Prescription Program Promotes Produce Intake and Decreases Food Insecurity." Translational Behavioral Medicine 9 (5): 922–30. https://doi.org/10.1093/tbm/ ibz112.
- 106 Robertson, Misty. n.d. "Food Rx." Houston Food Bank (blog). Accessed December 2, 2020. https://www.houstonfoodbank.org/our-programs/food-forchange/foodrx/.
- 107 Aiyer, Jennifer N., Margaret Raber, Rosalind S. Bello, Anna Brewster, Elizabeth Caballero, Catherine Chennisi, Casey Durand, et al. 2019. "A Pilot Food Prescription Program Promotes Produce Intake and Decreases Food Insecurity." Translational Behavioral Medicine 9 (5): 922–30. https://doi.org/10.1093/tbm/ ibz112.
- 108 "A Prescription for Healthy Living." n.d. Accessed December 15, 2020. https:// sph.uth.edu/research/centers/dell/prescription-for-healthy-living/.
- 109 "A Prescription for Healthy Living." n.d. Accessed December 15, 2020. https:// sph.uth.edu/research/centers/dell/prescription-for-healthy-living/.
- 110 "SNAP Utilization and Eligibility in Texas and Texas Legislative Districts." 2020. Michael & Susan Dell Center for Healthy Living, Texas Research-to-Policy Collaboration Project.. https://sph.uth.edu/research/centers/dell/legislativeinitiatives/SNAPpercent20Reportpercent2010.17.2020.pdf.
- 111 "How It Works Double Up Food Bucks Texas." n.d. Accessed December 3, 2020. https://www.doubleuptexas.org/how-it-works/.
- 112 "Double Up Food Bucks." n.d. Fair Food Network. Accessed December 15, 2020. https://fairfoodnetwork.org/projects/double-up-food-bucks/.
- 113 "Study on SNAP Fruit and Vegetable Incentive Programs in Texas." 2020. Texas Health and Human Services Commission.https://hhs.texas.gov/sites/default/ files/documents/laws-regulations/reports-presentations/2020/study-snap-fruitveg-incentive-programs-tx-dec-2020.pdf
- 114 "Double Up Food Bucks." n.d. Fair Food Network. Accessed December 15, 2020. https://fairfoodnetwork.org/projects/double-up-food-bucks/.
- 115 "Study on SNAP Fruit and Vegetable Incentive Programs in Texas." 2020. Texas Health and Human Services Commission.https://hhs.texas.gov/sites/default/ files/documents/laws-regulations/reports-presentations/2020/study-snap-fruitveg-incentive-programs-tx-dec-2020.pdf
- 116 "Double Up Food Bucks: 2019 National Overview." 2020. Fair Food Network. https://fairfoodnetwork.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/FFN_DUFB_National-Overview_2019-1.pdf.
- 117 "Double Up Food Bucks: 2019 National Overview." 2020. Fair Food Network. https://fairfoodnetwork.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/FFN_DUFB_National-Overview_2019-1.pdf.
- 118 "El Paso County Opens Application Process for \$1 Million in Healthy Food Financing Initiative Funds – Center for Community Health Impact." n.d. Accessed December 15, 2020. https://pdnihl.org/el-paso-county-opens-applicationprocess-for-1-million-in-healthy-food-financing-initiative-funds.
- 119 "Fridge Movement: Grassroots Efforts Fight Food Insecurity With Free

Refrigerators." n.d. NPR.Org. Accessed December 8, 2020. https://www.npr. org/2020/09/29/917023702/freedge-movement-grassroots-efforts-fight-foodinsecurity-with-free-refrigerator.

- 120 "Restaurant Installs Free Fridge for Those Facing Food Insecurity." n.d. Accessed December 8, 2020. https://spectrumlocalnews.com/tx/san-antonio/ news/2020/08/24/texas-restaurant-puts-free-fridge-outside-its-doors-for-thosefacing-food-insecurity.
- 121 Shey, Brittanie. 2020. "Houston's First Community Fridge Is Now Open in Third Ward." Eater Houston. August 11, 2020. https://houston.eater. com/2020/8/11/21362286/houston-community-fridge-free-food-open-thirdward-parklets-restaurants-kamp-open-westheimer.
- 122 McCarthy, Amy. 2020. "Dallas's First Community Fridge Is Now Open in Oak Cliff." Eater Dallas. September 14, 2020. https://dallas.eater. com/2020/9/14/21436156/dallas-community-fridge-open-oak-cliff-the-peoplesfridge.
- 123 "Alief Community Fridge Supporting Those Having a Tough Time." 2020. Text. Article. FOX 26 Houston. FOX 26 Houston. August 16, 2020. https://www. fox26houston.com/news/alief-community-fridge-supporting-those-having-atough-time.
- 124 Bronsing-Lazalde, Christina. "IMPACT." Center for Good Food Purchasing (blog). Accessed September 27, 2020. https://goodfoodpurchasing.org/impact/.
- 125 Bronsing-Lazalde, Christina. n.d. "AUSTIN." Good Food Purchasing Program (blog). Accessed December 16, 2020. https://goodfoodcities.org/portfolio/ austin/.
- 126 Bronsing-Lazalde, Christina. n.d. "AUSTIN." Good Food Purchasing Program (blog). Accessed December 16, 2020. https://goodfoodcities.org/portfolio/ austin/.
- 127 "Physical LiiNK." n.d. Accessed December 3, 2020. https://liinkproject.tcu.edu/ results/physical.
- 128 Farbo, David, Laura C. Maler, and Deborah J. Rhea. 2020. "The Preliminary Effects of a Multi-Recess School Intervention: Using Accelerometers to Measure Physical Activity Patterns in Elementary Children." International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 17 (23): 8919. https://doi. org/10.3390/ijerph17238919.
- 129 "Texas Pediatric Society Obesity Toolkit | Texas Pediatric Society." n.d. Accessed December 3, 2020. https://txpeds.org/texas-pediatric-society-obesity-toolkit.
- 130 "Child Obesity Toolkit." n.d. Accessed December 15, 2020. https://sph.uth.edu/ research/centers/dell/child-health-toolkits/child-obesity-toolkit.
- 131 "USDA Food and Nutrition Service | USDA-FNS." Accessed September 26, 2020. https://fns-prod.azureedge.net/sites/default/files/resource-files/NSLPFactSheet. pdf.
- 132 "School Meals and Snacks." n.d. The State of Childhood Obesity (blog). Accessed December 16, 2020. https://stateofchildhoodobesity.org/policy/school-meals/.
- 133 National Cancer Institute. Usual dietary intakes: food intakes, US population, 2007–10. Available at http://appliedresearch.cancer.gov/diet/usualintakes/ pop/2007-10
- 134 "RWJF Comments on Proposed Changes to USDA's School Meal Nutrition Standards." RWJF, July 22, 2020. https://www.rwjf.org/en/library/articles-andnews/2020/03/comments-from-richard-besser-on-proposed-changes-to-usdaschool-meal-nutrition-standards.html
- 135 Kenney, Erica L., Jessica L. Barrett, Sara N. Bleich, Zachary J. Ward, Angie L. Cradock, and Steven L. Gortmaker. 2020. "Impact Of The Healthy, Hunger-Free Kids Act On Obesity Trends." Health Affairs 39 (7): 1122–29. https://doi. org/10.1377/hlthaff.2020.00133.
- 136 "Open Campus Means Fast Food for Lunch." 2013. SFChronicle.Com. May 9, 2013. https://www.sfchronicle.com/education/article/Open-campus-means-fastfood-for-lunch-4503989.php.
- 137 Stone, Lorraine M., and Carol W. Runyan. 2005. "High School Off-Campus Lunch Policies and Adolescent Motor Vehicle Crash Risks." The Journal of Adolescent Health: Official Publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine 36 (1): 5–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2003.12.009.
- 138 Stone, Lorraine M., and Carol W. Runyan. 2005. "High School Off-Campus Lunch Policies and Adolescent Motor Vehicle Crash Risks." Journal of Adolescent Health 36 (1): 5–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2003.12.009.
- 139 "Research: Latino Neighborhoods Badly Need Healthier, Affordable Food Options | Salud America." n.d. Accessed December 2, 2020. https://saludamerica.org/research-latino-neighborhoods-badly-need-healthier-affordablefood-options/.
- 140 Zhu X, Lee C. Walkability and safety around elementary schools economic and ethnic disparities. Am J Prev Med. 2008;34(4):282–290
- 141 Sahoo, Krushnapriya, Bishnupriya Sahoo, Ashok Kumar Choudhury, Nighat Yasin Sofi, Raman Kumar, and Ajeet Singh Bhadoria. 2015. "Childhood Obesity: Causes and Consequences." Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care 4 (2): 187–92. https://doi.org/10.4103/2249-4863.154628.